COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

DEREK J. YOUNG

Appellant,

· v.

THE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON; and CMS PAINTING, INC.,

Respondents.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Ron Meyers Ken Gorton Tim Friedman Attorneys for Appellant Derek J. Young

Meyers
Gorton
riedman
for Appellant
J. Young

Ron Meyers & Associates PLLCA 8765 Tallon Ln. NE, Suite Å Lacey, WA 98516

WSBA No. 13169 WSBA No. 37597

(360) 459-5600

WSBA No. 37983

I. INTRODUCTION

This case originates from a worker's compensation claim that arose out of a motor vehicle collision on June 27, 2007. A third party tortfeasor was responsible for the collision. Appellant Derek Young (hereinafter "Mr. Young") was seriously and permanently injured in the collision and sought treatment for his injuries. Mr. Young attempted to return to work. However, he found that doing his job-of-injury aggravated his injuries and he was forced to remain off of work and continue treatment.

The Department of Labor and Industries' (hereinafter "Department") ended time loss and closed the claim by order dated September 19, 2008. Mr. Young appealed to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (hereinafter "BIIA") on January 12, 2009. The BIIA granted Mr. Young's appeal and a Hearing Judge was assigned. Mr. Young filed an affidavit of prejudice against the assigned Hearing Judge. The BIIA denied the affidavit and Mr. Young filed a petition for a statutory writ of mandamus in Superior Court, which placed the appeal to the BIIA in a holding pattern pending the outcome of the motion before the Superior Court. The Superior Court dismissed Mr. Young's petition for a writ and the BIIA appeal proceeded forward. Mr. Young timely filed his witness confirmation wherein he informed the parties that he intended to use the perpetuation depositions of experts that were taken

during May of 2010 in the underlying civil action against the third party tortfeasor. *CP at 326*. The Department filed a motion to exclude these depositions which was heard on October 12, 2010. During that motion hearing, Mr. Young's legal counsel brought a motion for the record requesting that the Hearing Judge recuse himself based on the fact that the Judge was hearing a case where he was aware that Mr. Young and his counsel had filed an affidavit of prejudice against him. *CP at 327(24) - 328(3)*. Mr. Young's motion to recuse was denied and the parties proceeded with hearing the Department's motion to exclude the depositions. The Department's motion to exclude Mr. Young's expert witnesses' perpetuation depositions was granted. The BIIA ultimately ruled that the Department's order dated December 31, 2008 was correct and was affirmed. Mr. Young appeal the BIIA's ruling to Superior Court. The Superior Court ruled in favor of the Department, and that ruling is the basis for Mr. Young's appeal to this Court.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES

- A. Whether the BIIA and Superior Court committed reversible error when they excluded the perpetuation depositions of board certified orthopedic surgeon, Dr. Patrick Bays, and occupational therapist, Dawn Jones, and excluded their respective medical reports. YES.
- B. Whether the BIIA and Superior Court committed reversible error when they ruled to deny time loss, medical expenses, permanent partial disability, vocational or other Industrial Insurance Act benefits to Mr. Young in ruling that he was fixed and stable. YES.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement Of Facts

On June 27, 2007, Derek Young, while in the course and scope of his employment, was the passenger in his employer's vehicle driving south on Interstate 5. When the employer's vehicle stopped, the third party defendant failed to stop, and crashed into the rear of the employer's vehicle. Mr. Young was seriously and permanently injured.

Mr. Young brought a third party action against the negligent driver. The Department was notified of Mr. Young's third party action. In the course of the third party action, board certified orthopedic surgeon Patrick Bays, DO, conducted an independent medical examination of Mr. Young on December 4, 2009. Dr. Bays' perpetuation deposition was conducted in the third party action on May 10, 2010.

Also in the course of the third party action, board certified Occupational Therapist Dawn Jones performed a Functional Capacity Evaluation of Mr. Young on March 25, 2010. Her perpetuation deposition was conducted on May 27, 2010.

The tortfeasor's attorney was present at both Dr. Bays' and Occupational Therapist Jones' perpetuation depositions, whereat he defended the depositions aggressively as to liability, proximate cause, the nature and

extent of Mr. Young's injuries, and economic and non-economic damages.

He performed a vigorous cross-examination of both experts.

Mr. Young properly disclosed Dr. Bays and Occupational Therapist Jones at the administrative level, and the Department was provided all necessary information pursuant to its discovery requests, including the written reports of Dr. Bays and Occupational Therapist Jones. Extensive responses to Request for Production were also provided by Mr. Young to the Department.

The Department was aware of, and participated in, the third party litigation, including the mediation that ultimately resolved the civil claim. Mr. Young timely filed and served a Witness Confirmation in the BIIA action, which included Dr. Bays and Occupational Therapist Jones. *CP at* 291(25-28).

On September 21, 2010, the Department moved the BIIA to exclude the preservation depositions of Dr. Bays and Dawn Jones OTR/L on the basis that the Department was not present at their depositions in the third party matter. At the October 12, 2010 BIIA hearing, because the Department's attorney was not present at Dr. Bays and Occupational Therapist Jones' perpetuation depositions, the BIIA Hearing Judge excluded their testimony.

CP at 292(20-22). On December 10, 2010 Mr. Young brought a motion

asking for Dr. Bays' medical examination report and deposition to be admitted as exhibits. The BIIA Hearing Judge denied Mr. Young's motion in the Proposed Decision and Order dated February 16, 2011. *CP at 24(19-27)*.

The BIIA's decision to exclude the reports and testimony of board certified Orthopedic Surgeon Patrick Bays and board certified Occupational Therapist Dawn Jones left Mr. Young with only a single medical expert in his case-in-chief, Chiropractor Jay Sweet.

Dr. Sweet's perpetuation deposition was taken on June 4, 2009. *CP* at 385. Dr. Sweet was Mr. Young's treating chiropractor, and he treated Mr. Young from July 2, 2007 until Mr. Young's claim was closed on September 19, 2008. *CP at 393*. Dr. Sweet's testimony established a Category 4 residual impairment. *CP at 414(9) - 415(20)*. Dr. Sweet also established that Mr. Young was unable to return to his employment due to his industrial injury. *CP at 417(1-4)*. The Department's two medical experts were not treating providers of Mr. Young. They only saw Mr. Young once, for approximately 1.5 hours. Only one of the two doctors performed a consultation. Both doctors admitted that Mr. Young had injury caused by the industrial accident, that his injuries were supported by objective findings and that Mr. Young's low back pain caused by the industrial injury had lasted so

long that they deemed it chronic. Specific details of Dr. Sweet's testimony and the Department's doctors' testimony are discussed below in detail.

In the third party Superior Court action concerning the same industrial injury at issue in the BIIA hearing, the tortfeasor's defense attorney contested liability, causation and the nature and extent of injuries, as well as Mr. Young's ability to perform his job of injury or other work. These are the same issues that were before the BIIA. Because the June 27, 2007 third party collision was also the industrial injury at issue, the Department is responsible for Mr. Young's medical expenses, time loss, and disabilities found to have been proximately caused by the motor vehicle collision involving the third party tortfeasor. *See Title 51*. Again, the subject matter of the third party case is a motor vehicle collision, which is the identical subject matter of Mr. Young's BIIA case.

The third party defendant's attorney vigorously defended his client's interests concerning the nature, extent, and permanency of Mr. Young's injuries, whether they were caused by the motor vehicle collision, as well as Mr. Young's inability to perform his job of injury or other work. These are the identical interests defended by the Department in Mr. Young's BIIA matter, and those interests were well represented by the tortfeasor's attorney at Dr. Bays' and OT Jones' perpetuation depositions.

B. Procedural History

Mr. Young filed an Application for Benefits with the Department on August 28, 2007 for injuries he sustained in an automobile accident as a passenger riding in his employer's vehicle while in the course and scope of his employment on June 27, 2007. CP at 49. His claim for the industrial injury was allowed by Department Order dated September 6, 2007. Id. On September 18, 2008, the Department ordered time loss compensation paid through September 17, 2008. CP at 50. On September 19, 2008, the Department ordered the claim closed with no further medical treatment and no award of permanent partial disability. Id. Mr. Young timely filed a Notice of Appeal with the BIIA on November 17, 2008. *Id.* On November 19, 2008, the Department ordered the September 19, 2008 order held in abeyance for further reconsideration. Id. On December 15, 2008, the BIIA denied Mr. Young's appeal due to the Department's reconsideration of the September 19, 2008 order. Id. On December 31, 2008, the Department affirmed its Order dated September 19, 2008. Id. Mr. Young filed a Notice of Appeal with the BIIA on January 12, 2009. Id.

The BIIA granted Mr. Young's appeal by order dated January 20, 2009. *CP at 44*. Mr. Young sought recusal of the assigned industrial insurance appeals judge on multiple occasions. *CP at 67 - 68; CP at 72 - 77;*

CP at 327(24) - 328(20). After hearing Mr. Young's appeal, the BIIA issued a Proposed Decision and Order on February 16, 2011, affirming the Department's December 31, 2008 Order and ruled that Mr. Young's industrial injuries did not require further medical treatment, within the meaning of RCW 51.36.010, as of June 26, 2008; that he was not a totally and temporarily disabled worker during the period between September 18, 2008 and December 31, 2008 as contemplated by RCW 51.32.090; that the Department did not abuse its discretion when it did not provide vocational rehabilitation as provided by RCW 51.32.095; and that Mr. Young's residual impairment is best described as Category 1 for categories for permanent dorso-lumbar and lumbosacral impairments, per RCW 51.32.080 and WAC 296-20-280. CP at 34(15-24). Mr. Young timely filed a Petition for Review on March 7, 2011. CP at 11 - 16. The BIIA denied Mr. Young's Petition and ordered that the Proposed Decision and Order become the BIIA's Decision and Order on March 21, 2011.

Mr. Young timely appealed the BIIA's Decision and Order to the Superior Court on April 7, 2011. *CP at 1 - 2*. At Superior Court Mr. Young moved for summary judgment requesting the Court reverse the BIIA's determination to exclude his two medical experts. *CP at 594 - 607*. The Superior Court denied Mr. Young's motion on February 10, 2012. *CP at 823*

- 826. Mr. Young's trial hearing in Superior Court was held on the afternoon of July 6, 2012 and Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment were presented six months later on January 25, 2013. *CP at 883 - 886*.

Mr. Young timely appealed the Superior Court's decision to this Court, on the basis of the aforementioned errors at the BIIA and Superior Court.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

1. Superior Court

In an appeal of a BIIA decision, the superior court holds a de novo hearing but does not hear any evidence of testimony other than that included in the BIIA records. RCW 51.52.115. See also, Grimes v. Lakeside Industries, 78 Wn. App. 554, 560, 897 P.2d 431 (1995). The findings and decisions of the BIIA are prima facie correct and the burden of proof is on the party challenging them. RCW 51.52.115. See also, Ravsten v. Dept. of Labor & Indus., 108 Wn.2d 143, 146, 736 P.2d 265 (1987) (quoting Weatherspoon v. Dept. of Labor & Indus., 55 Wn. App. 439, 440, 777 P.2d 1084 (1989)).

2. Court Of Appeals

For claims under the Industrial Insurance Act, "review is limited to

examination of the record to see whether substantial evidence supports the findings made after the superior court's *de novo* review, and whether the court's conclusion of law flow from the findings." *Young v. Dept. of Labor & Indus.*, 81 Wn. App. 123, 128, 913 P.2d 402 (1996) (citations omitted). *See also Ruse v. Dept. of Labor & Indus.*, 138 Wn.2d 1, 5-6, 977 P.2d 570 (1999).

B. The BIIA And The Superior Court Improperly Excluded Mr. Young's Expert Witnesses

Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals cases, and administrative hearings in general, are subject to relaxed rules of procedure and evidence because the Industrial Insurance Act is to be liberally construed in favor of the injured worker.

The Washington Supreme Court has stated that the "guiding principle in construing the Industrial Insurance Act is that the Act is remedial in nature and is to be liberally construed in order to achieve its purpose of providing compensation to all covered employees injured in their employment, with doubts resolved in favor of the worker." [Emphasis added.] Dennis v. Dept. of Labor and Indus., 109 Wn.2d 467, 470, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987)); Boeing Co. v. Heidy, 147 Wn.2d 78, 86, 51 P.3d 793 (2002).

Strict rules of trial procedure in civil actions are not to be applied in

claims before Department of Labor and Industries. *Otter v. Dept. of Labor and Indus.*, 11 Wn.2d 51, 118 P.2d 41 (1941). Cases subject to the Administrative Procedure Act are subject to significantly relaxed rules of evidence. *See, e.g., RCW 34.05.452(2)* (rules of evidence are "guidelines" under Administrative Procedure Act). By their own provisions, the rules of evidence apply only to court proceedings. ER 101, 1101.

Even relevant hearsay evidence is admissible in administrative hearings. *Nisqually Delta Ass'n v. City of DuPont*, 103 Wn.2d 720, 696 P.2d 1222 (1985), reconsideration denied. Hearsay evidence may be admitted at an administrative hearing if the presiding officer determines that it is the kind of evidence on which reasonably prudent persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of their affairs. *Pappas v. State, Employment Sec. Dept.*, 135 Wn. App. 852, 146 P.3d 1208 (2006).

Specifically, RCW 34.05.452 provides that "Evidence...is admissible if...it is the kind of evidence on which reasonably prudent persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of their affairs." *RCW 34.05.452(1)*.

1. The BIIA and Superior Court failed to apply CR 32(a)(5)(B).

The BIIA and Superior Court misapplied the Civil Rules in its decision when it struck Mr. Young's expert witnesses. The Courts focused exclusively on CR 30, which deals with discovery depositions in general.

However, CR 32(a)(5)(B) addresses the use of perpetuation depositions of healthcare professionals in subsequent proceedings as follows:

RULE 32 USE OF DEPOSITIONS IN COURT PROCEEDINGS

(a)(5)(B) The deposition of a health care professional, even though available to testify at trial, taken with the expressly stated purpose of preserving the deponents testimony for trial, may be used if, before the taking of the deposition, there has been compliance with discovery requests made pursuant to rules 26(b)(5)(A)(i), 33, 34, and 35 (as applicable) and if the opposing party is afforded an adequate opportunity to prepare, by discovery deposition of the deponent or other means, for cross examination of the deponent.

Substitution of parties pursuant to rule 25 does not affect the right to use depositions previously taken; and, when an action has been brought in any court of the United States or of any state and another action involving the same issues and subject matter is afterward brought between the same parties or their representatives or successors in interest, all depositions lawfully taken and duly filed in the former action may be used in the latter as if originally taken therefor. A deposition previously taken may also be used as permitted by the Rules of Evidence. [Emphasis added.]

This rule specifically contemplates the use of a perpetuation deposition of a healthcare professional in latter proceedings when the two actions involve the same issues or subject matter. In the instant case, the BIIA action did not resume until its scheduling conference on July 14, 2010. *CP at 100(6)*. The perpetuation depositions of Dr. Bays and OT Jones for the third party action in Pierce County Superior Court had already taken place by

then because the trial was scheduled for June 16, 2010. Therefore, the BIIA action was a latter action as contemplated by CR 32.

Furthermore, in the third party action, the defense attorney contested liability, causation and the nature and extent of injuries, as well as Mr. Young's ability to perform his job of injury or other work. If the Court desires, Mr. Young can present Dr. Bays' and OT Jones' perpetuation deposition transcripts to prove that their depositions were defended, and that the experts were cross-examined by defense counsel. These perpetuation depositions are part of the record on appeal. *Dr. Bays, CP at 133 - 172 & 633 - 729; OT Jones, CP at 174 - 198 & 731 - 786.* Similarly, the experts' reports are part of the record on appeal. *Dr. Bays, CP at 234 - 246 & 613 - 625; OT Jones, CP at 248 - 252 & 627 - 631.*

Liability, causation and the nature and extent of Mr. Young's injuries were the same issues before the BIIA. The Department is responsible for Mr. Young's medical expenses, time loss, and disabilities found to have been proximately caused by the motor vehicle collision involving the third party tortfeasor. *See Title 51*. The subject matter of the third party case is the June 27, 2007 motor vehicle collision, which is the identical subject matter of Mr. Young's workers' compensation case.

The Washington Supreme Court defines successor in interest through

Webster's Dictionary as "the change in legal relations by which one person comes into the enjoyment of or becomes responsible for one or more of the rights or liabilities of another person." *One Pacific Towers Homeowners'*Ass'n v. HAL Real Estate Investments, Inc., 148 Wn.2d 319, 327, 61 P.3d 1094 (2002).

It cannot be reasonably disputed that the Department is a successor in interest of the third party torfteasor, as there can be no doubt that the liabilities of the tortfeasor (time loss, medical expenses, disability) are also the responsibility of the Department. The Department's responsibility to compensate Mr. Young for these losses caused by the work-related collision are statutory. *Title 51*.

The BIIA and Superior Court should not have excluded the perpetuation testimony of Dr. Bays and Occupational Therapist Jones. There was no need for two defense attorney's at Dr. Bays' and OT Jones' perpetuation depositions, making redundant objections and conducting duplicative cross examination. The Department was a successor in interest of the tortfeasor, and in so excluding Mr. Young's experts the BIIA and Superior Court ignored CR 32.

Here, there is little argument that the Department is legally responsible for special damages and other payments related to Mr. Young's

injuries from the negligent driver. The fact that the Department has a right of recovery against any third party settlement or award under RCW 51.24.060 further illustrates this point. The Department trusts the integrity of the third-party civil process. There is no need for multiple attorneys representing, in essence, the same interests. In the instant case, the Department asserted such a lien over Mr. Young's settlement with the negligent driver and was paid a substantial sum. Therefore, pursuant to CR 32, the BIIA and Superior Court should have permitted Mr. Young to submit the perpetuation depositions from his two medical experts as evidence.

Furthermore, CR 32 also states that "a deposition previously taken may also be used as permitted by the Rules of Evidence." This sentence, as read, exists independently of the other requirements of CR 32. The Rules of Evidence contemplate the admission of expert testimony under ER 702, "if scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue." Moreover, ER 803 exempts statements for purposes of medical diagnosis from the hearsay rule, including statements "describing medical history, or past or present symptoms, pain ... or general character of the cause." Accordingly, no portions of the Rules of Evidence prohibit the use of perpetuation depositions of healthcare professionals to be used in a latter proceeding. Therefore, the

BIIA should have permitted Mr. Young's experts to testify.

2. The BIIA and Superior Court did not give Mr. Young a fair chance to rebut the Department's experts.

Civil Rule 32(c) requires a fair opportunity to rebut expert testimony presented by a perpetuation deposition at a hearing or trial as follows:

RULE 32 USE OF DEPOSITIONS IN COURT PROCEEDINGS

(c) Effect of Taking or Using Depositions.

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