NO. 44560-3-II

2013 SEP 30 AM 9: 15 STATE OF WASHINGTON BY

DEPUTY

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEREK J. YOUNG,

Appellant,

٧.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON and CMS PAINTING, INC.,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Michael J. Throgmorton Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 44263 Office ID. #91022 7141 Cleanwater Drive SW PO Box 40121 Tumwater, WA 98504-0121 (360) 586-7713

PM 9/27/13

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

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Young argues that this Court should rule he was entitled to have the Board consider three depositions that he took without giving notice to the Department. He contends the depositions are properly admissible under CR 32 because the Department was the "successor in interest" to the defendant in his tort action. He also suggests that the requirements of

CR 32 should be relaxed because this is a workers' compensation matter rather than a normal civil case. Neither of these arguments have merit.

CR 32 permits the deposition of an expert to be used in subsequent actions between the same parties, their representatives, or successors in interest. A successor in interest is "one who follows another in ownership or control of property." Here, the Department did not "follow" the tort defendant in "ownership or control of property" and therefore, the Department is not the tort defendant's successor in interest. In fact, the Department's interest is adverse to the tortfeasor. As such, neither the Board nor the superior court abused their discretion when they determined that the depositions were properly excluded.

Young's failure to give the Department notice of the depositions in his tort action deprived the Department of the requisite opportunity to prepare or appear for cross-examination of the deponents. While the Industrial Insurance Act is liberally construed in favor of injured workers, the civil rules are not, and in any event, there is no ambiguity as to whether Young complied with the civil rules when he conducted three depositions of expert witnesses without providing the Department with any notice of those depositions. Young plainly did not do so.

Young also argues that the exclusion of those depositions was a violation of his due process rights. This argument is also unsupported, and

lacks merit. Young was given a full and fair opportunity to depose those witnesses again, this time with notice to the Department, and he declined to do so. A litigant who fails to take advantage of a reasonable opportunity to present evidence in support of his or her appeal cannot be heard to complain of a due process violation.

Young also contends, apparently in the alternative, that even if the superior court properly excluded the relevant depositions, its decision should still be overturned because its findings were not supported by substantial evidence. This argument fails as well. The Department presented the testimony of two medical witnesses whose testimony supports the findings of the superior court. Young fails to show that no reasonable person could have entered the findings the superior court made based on the evidence in the record, and instead appears to invite this Court to reweigh the evidence and overturn the superior court's credibility determinations. This Court should decline to do so.

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court's review of the superior court decision is under the ordinary standard for civil cases. *See* RCW 51.52.140; *Rogers v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 151 Wn. App. 174, 180, 210 P.3d 355 (2009). The Court of Appeals reviews the findings of the superior court, not the Board, based

on the record developed at the Board. *See Rogers*, 151 Wn. App. at 179-80; RCW 51.52.115.

A party seeking to reverse a superior court's finding of fact must meet a difficult standard. A reviewing court is limited to determining whether the superior court's findings are supported by substantial evidence and to determine whether the superior court's conclusions of law follow from its findings of fact. *Ruse v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 138 Wn.2d 1, 5-6, 977 P.2d 570 (1999). Substantial evidence is evidence sufficient to persuade a fair-minded person of the truth or the correctness of the order. *Ferry County v. Concerned Friends of Ferry County*, 155 Wn.2d 824, 833, 123 P.3d 102 (2005).

The admissibility of depositions under CR 32 is within the discretion of the trial court. *Sutton v. Shufelberger*, 31 Wn. App. 579, 585, 643 P.2d 920 (1982) (citing *Hammond v. Braden*, 16 Wn. App. 773, 776, 559 P.2d 1357 (1977)). Consequently, this Court reviews a trial court's decision to exclude depositions for abuse of discretion. *Allyn v. Boe*, 87 Wn. App. 722, 738, 943 P.2d 364 (1997). An abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court's exercise of its discretion is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons. *State v. Finch*, 137 Wn.2d 792, 810, 975 P.2d 967 (1999). Discretion is abused only where no reasonable

person would take the view adopted by the hearing tribunal. *Jankelson v. Cisel*, 3 Wn. App. 139, 142, 473 P.2d 202 (1970).

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The Superior Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion When It Excluded Dr. Bays' and Ms. Jones' Depositions Under CR 32, Because the Depositions Were Taken Without Notice to the Department and the Department Is Not the Successor in Interest of the Defendant in That Unrelated Matter

The Board and the superior court each determined that three of the depositions Young offered in this case were not properly admissible based on the fact that they were taken without notice to the Department. CP 291-92, 823-26, 883-87. In order to show that this was error, Young must establish that the Board and the superior court abused their discretion. See Sutton, 31 Wn. App. at 585; Hammond, 16 Wn. App. at 776. Young argues his depositions were admissible, in spite of the lack of notice to the Department, because under CR 32, depositions are admissible in subsequent actions against successors in interest to the parties against whom the depositions were taken. App's Br. at 11-14. He argues that because the Department had an obligation to compensate him for the same injuries caused by the driver who hit him, the Department was a "successor in interest" to the driver. App's Br. at 14. However, the Department is not a "successor in interest" to the driver who hit Young, because a successor in interest is one who follows another in ownership or

control over property. See Black's Law Dictionary 1570 (9th ed. 2009). (An example is when a corporation changes its name but retains the same property. Id.) The Department did not "follow" the motorist who injured Young in ownership or control over any property. See id. Therefore, Young has failed to show that the Board or the superior court abused their discretion when they rejected three of his depositions based on his failure to comply with CR 32.

1. Under CR 32, Perpetuation Depositions May Only be Used in Subsequent Actions if Notice was Given to the Party Against Whom They are Later Offered

CR 32(a) permits prior depositions to be used only against parties who were "present or represented at the taking of the deposition, or who had reasonable notice thereof." Where the depositions at issue are of health care professionals, CR 32(a)(5)(B) provides further requirements and permits the use of such depositions "if, before the taking of the deposition, there has been compliance with discovery requests . . . and if the opposing party is afforded an adequate opportunity to prepare, by discovery deposition of the deponent or other means, for cross examination of the deponent." (Emphasis added.)

In this case, it is uncontroverted that Young did not give the Department any notice of three of the depositions he took. The Department entered its notice of appearance in the workers' compensation

appeal in March 2009, well before the depositions were taken. CP 116. No effort was made to give the Department or its counsel the opportunity to appear, much less to prepare for cross-examination of Dr. Bays or Ms. Jones. CP 292.

Under these circumstances, both the Board and the superior court properly found the depositions were not admissible under CR 32. CP 292, 823-26. Young appears to argue that he could not anticipate knowing that the third party depositions would be used in the workers' compensation proceeding, and therefore it was somehow "untenable" to give notice to the Department before the deposition if Young intended to use the depositions in the workers' compensation appeal. See App's Br. at 27-28. This argument is belied by the facts. The first scheduling conference in Young's workers' compensation case was in March 2009. CP 64. The depositions were in May 2010. CP 133-55, 174-88, 200-14. If Young anticipated using the depositions of Dr. Bays, Ms. Jones, or the second deposition of Dr. Sweet, it would have been a simple matter to give the requisite notice to the Department's counsel. Because he did not, the Board properly rejected them, and the superior court properly upheld the Board's ruling. See CR 32(a).

2. The Department is Not a Successor in Interest to the Third Party Tortfeasor

a. A Successor in Interest Is "One Who Follows Another in Ownership or Control of Property"

In spite of the fact he did not give the Department notice of his depositions, Young argues he was not required to do so because the Department was a "successor in interest" to the third party driver's liability. App's Br. at 13-15. As such, Young argues the Department was adequately represented by counsel for the driver. App's Br. at 13; CP 345. The Board and the superior court properly rejected this argument. CP 292, 823-26.

Young cites *One Pacific Towers Homeowners' Ass'n. v. HAL Real Estate Investments, Inc.*, 148 Wn.2d 319, 327, 61 P.3d 1094 (2002), for the proposition that our Supreme Court has defined "successor in interest" as "the change in legal relations by which one person comes into the enjoyment of or becomes responsible for one or more of the rights or liabilities of another person." App's Br. at 14. The quote Young offers, however, relates to the Court's understanding of the term "succession," rather than "successor in interest." *See One Pacific*, 148 Wn.2d at 327. In any event, Young's reliance on it is misplaced, because neither the Supreme Court's definition of "succession" nor its definition of "successor in interest" supports the conclusion that the Department was the successor in interest to the driver who injured Young.

The Department has a legal duty to provide benefits to workers who are injured in the course of their employment, regardless of whether that worker may also have a separate legal action against a third party who negligently injured him or her. *See* RCW 51.32.010; RCW 51.24.040. The Department's duty to provide benefits to injured workers is a product of the Industrial Insurance Act, rather than a product of civil litigation between Young and the motorist who injured him. *See* RCW 51.04.010.

In *One Pacific*, the Supreme Court determined how one could "succeed to" the special rights of a declarant under the Condominium Act, RCW 64.34.020(13). In doing so, it noted the Court of Appeals had looked to the dictionary definition of the word "succession" as "the change in legal relations by which one person comes into the enjoyment of or becomes responsible for one or more of the rights or liabilities of another person." *One Pacific*, 148 Wn.2d at 327 (citing *Webster's Third New Int'l Dictionary* 2282 (1993)). Because it was concerned about enforcing the consumer protection provisions of the Condominium Act by ensuring that corporate entities that ended up with the rights of that act were also charged with its responsibilities, the Supreme Court affirmed. *One Pacific*, 148 Wn.2d at 327. However, in doing so, the Court expressly noted the difference between a "successor in interest" and a "successor" as used in RCW 64.34.020(13), observing that a successor in

interest is "[o]ne who follows another in ownership or control of property." *One Pacific*, 148 Wn.2d at 327 (citing *Black's Law Dictionary* 1283 (5th ed. 1979)).

Here, Young urges this Court to adopt *One Pacific's* definition of "succession" as establishing the meaning of the phrase "successors in interest" in CR 32. App's Br. at 14. For a number of reasons, this Court should decline to adopt such a tortured reading of CR 32.

First, because the Supreme Court's task in *One Pacific* was to decide the meaning of the phrase "succeeds to" as used in the Condominium Act, *One Pacific* is at best of questionable relevance to this Court's task, which is to determine the scope of the term "successor in interest" as used in CR 32. Moreover, *One Pacific* expressly notes that a "successor in interest" is one who follows another in ownership or control of property, which is not as broad as the Court's definition of "succeeds to". In other words, Young's proposal that this Court adopt *One Pacific's* definition of "succession" – which includes liabilities in addition to rights – as establishing the meaning of the phrase "successors in interest" used in CR 32 is unsupportable as *One Pacific* defines "successor in interest" in a way that is distinguishable from its definition of "successor." *See One Pacific*, 148 Wn.2d at 327.

Furthermore, neither *One Pacific's* definition of "successor in interest" nor its definition of "succession" supports Young's argument that the Department was the successor in interest to the motorist who injured him. *One Pacific* indicates that a successor in interest is one who follows another in ownership or control of property. *Id.* Here, the Department did not "follow" the motorist who injured Young in "ownership or control" over any form of "property."

One Pacific defines "succession" as "the process by which one person comes into the enjoyment of or becomes responsible for one or more of the rights or liabilities of another person." One Pacific, 148 Wn.2d at 327. Here, the Department did not become "responsible" for the "liabilities" of the motorist who injured Young. The Department had the responsibility to provide Young with benefits based on the statutory directives of the Industrial Insurance Act, not based on the outcome of Young's lawsuit against the motorist who struck him. See RCW 51.32.010; RCW 51.04.010. Indeed, if the defendant in Young's tort action had been found not to be at fault in causing Young's injuries, the Department would remain responsible to provide Young benefits, since the Department may not deny benefits to workers based on considerations of fault. See Crow v. Boeing Co., 129 Wn. App. 318, 323, 118 P.3d 894 (2005) (citing Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn.2d 658, 664,

958 P.2d 301 (1998)); RCW 51.04.010 ("sure and certain relief for workers, injured in their work, . . . is hereby provided regardless of questions of fault").

Nor was the Department obligated to pay Young whatever damages were assessed against the tort defendant: the Department is responsible to provide workers with benefits under the Industrial Insurance Act, not to pay workers damages for torts committed by third parties. Moreover, the Department has a statutory lien against the damages that Young receives in his third party tort action to recover benefits it pays him under the Industrial Insurance Act. *See* RCW 51.24.030, .060. Thus, the Department's interest, with regard to the tort action against the driver, was similar to Young's rather than the driver's, as the Department had the right to share in Young's tort recovery, if any.

Indeed, the Department's interest is adverse to the tortfeasor's interest because the Department has a statutory lien in the recovery from the tortfeasor. *See* RCW 51.24.030., 060. The more the recovery from the tortfeasor, the more the Department can potentially obtain. RCW 51.24.060. This statutory lien does not, as Young implies, mean that the Department is the successor in interest to the tortfeasor. *Contra* App's Br. at 15. Young cites no authority that a statutory lien on the recovery from a tortfeaser creates a successor in interest relationship and

this Court should reject his argument on that basis. See Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (court does not consider unsupported arguments). Given that the Department's interests in the suit are adverse to those of the tortfeasor, it would make no sense to conclude that the Department became the tortfeasor's successor in interest as a result of it receiving a portion of the damages that the tortfeasor was ordered to pay to the plaintiff. The Department did not acquire an interest in the suit between Young and the motorist who injured him as a result of it "following" the motorist in ownership of any form of "property." Rather, the Department had an interest in the suit because the plain language of a statute gives it such an interest in such suits. See RCW 51.24.030, .060.

b. The Department's Interests Are Distinct From Those of Either the Worker or the Tortfeasor in a Third Party Action

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